IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
SUPREME COURT NO. 20-1004

**IOWA SUPREME COURT ATTORNEY DISCIPLINARY
BOARD,
Appellee**

vs.

**STEPHEN WARREN NEWPORT
Respondent-Appellant.**

**APPEAL FROM IOWA SUPREME COURT
GRIEVANCE COMMISSION**

**RESPONDENT/APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

JOHN O. MOELLER
601 Brady Street, Ste. 303
Davenport, Iowa 52803
Tel: (563) 323-3014
Fax: (563) 594-6838
E-mail:
john@johnmoeller.com
Attorney for
Respondent – Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Issue I. Whether the Board has proven by a convincing preponderance of the evidence that Mr. Newport committed a criminal act with respect to JD1.

Board v. Freeman, 603 N.W.2d 600, 603 (Iowa, 1999)

Board v. Lickiss, 766 N.W.2d 860, 864 (Iowa 2010)

Board v. Keels. 795 N.W.2d 507, 509 (Iowa 2011)

False Allegations of Adult Crimes, FBI Law Enforcement Bulletin, September 2012, available at <https://leb.fbi.gov/archives>

Issue II. Whether the Board has proven by a convincing preponderance of the evidence that Mr. Newport engaged in sexual harassment of JD1 or JD2.

Board v. Freeman, 603 N.W.2d 600, 603 (Iowa, 1999)

Board v. Lickiss, 766 N.W.2d 860, 864 (Iowa 2010)

Board v. Keels. 795 N.W.2d 507, 509 (Iowa 2011)

False Allegations of Adult Crimes, FBI Law Enforcement Bulletin, September 2012, available at <https://leb.fbi.gov/archives>

Issue III. Whether the sanction proposed, if the Court determines Mr. Newport engaged in sexual harassment of JD2, is excessive.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This attorney discipline matter shall be retained by the Supreme Court. Rule 6.1101(2)(e).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Board filed a complaint on October 16th, 2019 alleging violations of Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct 32:8.4(b) and 32:8.4(g). A. 4. The matter was presented to the Commission on February 20th and 21st, 2020. The Commission's ruling was filed on July 31st, 2020. A. 10. The Commission issued a decision with dissents. John Miller and Mikkie Schiltz expressly found that no criminal act was committed by Mr. Newport but agree that Mr. Newport committed sexual harassment. A. 21. Mr. Miller suggested a suspension of six months was appropriate. A. 24. Mikkie Schiltz believed a one-year suspension was appropriate. A. 24. The other commissioners believed a two-year suspension appropriate. A. 21.

Respondent filed his notice of appeal on 8-7-20. Confidential Appendix (Hereinafter "CA.") 459.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

BACKGROUND

Mr. Newport was licensed to practice law in 1978 and has practiced in Scott County for more than 40 years. JD1 filed a complaint with the Board on October 16, 2019, alleging that Mr. Newport committed criminal acts and sexual harassment. JD2 did not file a complaint. After the publicity of Mr. Newport's arrest, JD2 contacted police to offer a statement concerning her recollections and opinions about experiences with Mr. Newport that she believes were inappropriately sexually suggestive. She would not waive her attorney-client privilege. She was called as a witness by the board against Mr. Newport.

The criminal charges were tried prior to the hearing by the commission. The State of Iowa twice presented to jurors in Scott County, Iowa in lengthy criminal trials, its claim that Mr. Newport committed three criminal offenses. Two separate juries selected from the community rejected the prosecution's claims that Mr. Newport committed any criminal violation.

Even after JD1's criminal allegations were rejected by two different juries, the Board claimed that her allegations of criminal conduct and sexual harassment satisfy the lesser standard of proof in these proceedings. The Board also presented a complaint of sexual harassment and a new allegation by JD2 of sexual

harassment concerning statements allegedly made by Mr. Newport in 2012 or 2013. Now in this third effort, the prosecutor claims in this edited version of the criminal prosecution that you should believe JD1 and ignore her credibility issues and contradictions with the other evidence. Mr. Newport disputes every material allegation concerning alleged criminal conduct and sexual harassment.

THE SETTING FOR JD1'S ALLEGATIONS

JD1's personal injury lawsuit has fallen apart on the eve of trial. On Jan. 18th Mr. Newport desperately tries to determine some settlement that will satisfy her and pay litigation expenses, liens and perhaps something for attorney fees. He reasonably believes JD1 will end up with nothing if the matter proceeds to trial because defense counsel Chad VonKampen has successfully used the failure of JD1 to disclose to her doctor similar prior injuries and treatment by other doctors prior to the injury that is alleged in the personal injury lawsuit. Mr. Newport pleads with JD1 to agree to some net settlement amount to her that will satisfy her. JD1 agrees that she will settle if she receives \$7500 "in her pocket". (Transcript of Commission Hearing (Hereinafter "Tx.") p. 68). CA. 61. The following day, Jan. 19th, Mr. Newport negotiates with defense counsel and with subrogation lienholders and secures a settlement offer that will provide to JD1 \$8000. Several days later JD1 tells police that while these settlement discussions were occurring,

her attorney sexually assaulted her. JD1, the Attorney General in the criminal matters, and now the prosecutor in this matter want everyone to believe that while pleading with his client for authority to settle the personal injury case, Mr. Newport assaulted her. It is not plausible that any attorney explaining that the client's case is a loser and begging his client for settlement authority would assault a client while trying to obtain settlement authority.

The criminal allegations of JD1 are not supported by physical or forensic evidence. No bruise on her right (or left) wrist. No witness. No statement made by JD1 about the event to her close friend of 14 years, Kelsie Slay, who she met in person moments after the alleged assault. No testimony from her mother who was in frequent phone communication with her on the day of the alleged assault.

MR. NEWPORT'S HEALTH

In the fall of 2017 Mr. Newport requested the assistance of attorney Arthur Buzzell in JD1's personal injury case. JD1 acknowledged knowing Steve's poor health in the early to mid-fall of 2017. (Tx. 152). CA. 109. At the time of the hearing, Mrs. Newport described that her husband was diagnosed with Parkinson's Disease approximately ten years ago, has Myasthenia Gravis, and is a cancer survivor. (Tx. 347). CA. 226. She described her husband's condition as declining

significantly. (Tx. 348). CA. 227. Mr. Newport's cognitive abilities are limited, and it was difficult for him to assist his own defense of the charges in this matter. (Tx. 348-49). CA. 227-28. His attorney described to the Commission his concern that his client was not competent to defend himself, but for Cheryl's assistance. Without her assistance he did not "think that I could have defended him in this case." (Tx. 348-49). CA. 227-28. Steve's physical and speech limitations could be observed at the hearing and on the video of the police questioning on 3-14-18 when Mr. Newport went to the station after being strip searched by three officers. (Exb. 6).

Mrs. Newport testified Mr. Newport's short term and long-term memory is impaired, and this is evident on a daily basis. (Tx. 350-351). CA. 229-30. Mrs. Newport was asked during the hearing if Mr. Newport was asked what happened on or in the JD1 case, for example, two years ago, would he be able to remember the details of the case. Her answer at Tx. 351 (CA. 230): "He would do his honest best, but, no, he would not be able to do that, I don't think". Mrs. Newport testified she had to help respond to discovery requests due to Mr. Newport's inability and limitations. (Id). CA. 230.

MR. NEWPORT'S REPRESENTATION OF JD1

1) CHILD IN NEED OF ASSISTANCE PROCEEDING REGARDING CHILD ABUSE AND NEGLECT IN JUVENILE COURT

Mr. Newport's representation of JD1 began in November 2003 and until April 2005 when he was court appointed to represent her in an Iowa Department of Human Services (DHS) child in need of assistance proceeding after her children were removed from her care. JD1 was appointed another attorney but was unhappy with that attorney's representation and asked for the previous attorney to be "removed off the case" and another appointed. (Tx. 104). CA. 80. JD1 does know how to complain to remove even a court appointed attorney. Mr. Newport was then appointed by the Court to represent her. (Tx. 105). CA. 81.

Mr. Newport had multiple contacts with JD1 during the CINA juvenile proceeding. He represented her at the Adjudication Hearing, Disposition Hearing, Permanency Hearing and many status hearings. Mr. Newport assisted in drafting guardianship documents for the placement of her children. Seventeen months of hearings and contacts and including a home visit. 76 hours were billed. (Exb. J). It is reasonable to assume that JD1 would not have employed Mr. Newport with her own funds to represent her in the next matter if she had any complaints about Mr. Newport during those 17 months.

2) *CHILD CUSTODY*

Eight years later, in May of 2013, JD1 privately retained Mr. Newport and paid a \$500.00 retainer fee for a custody dispute with that child's father. Mr. Newport secured a successful resolution of her case. This representation concluded on March 14, 2014. It is reasonable to assume that JD1 would not have employed Mr. Newport to represent her in the personal injury matter if she had any complaints about Mr. Newport during that year. (Exb. J). CA. 429.

3) *PERSONAL INJURY CASE – JD1 VS. PEOPLE'S MINI STORAGE*

Eight months later in November 2014, JD1 once again employed Mr. Newport for representation concerning her claimed personal injury at a storage unit when a garage door allegedly fell and struck her. (Tx. 43). CA. 39. JD1 signed a contingency fee agreement for Mr. Newport's representation. In 2016 Mr. Newport filed a petition on behalf of JD1 against People's Mini Storage. JD1 acknowledged she was aware of his continued deteriorating health condition in the early fall of 2017 and the necessity for the assistance of Mr. Buzzell. She agreed that Steve's speech was "mush-mouth" and "slurred" and described his speech as "changed" with some "slur days". (Tx. 151-52). CA. 108-9.

The personal injury case was set for trial in late January 2018. Dr. Dolphin, the treating physician and surgeon, was the expert witness needed to establish the

causal connection between the claimed injury, treatment and the accident. His expert witness services were paid for by Mr. Newport. (See Exb. J). CA. 429. Dr. Dolphin's deposition was taken by attorney Arthur Buzzell in December 2019. In that direct examination deposition, Dr. Dolphin made a causal connection between the claimed injury and the accident. Time constraints required that cross examination to be held on a later date. During cross examination by the defense attorney, Chad VonKampen, Dr. Dolphin was provided with records of injuries and treatment not previously disclosed by JD1 to Dr. Dolphin. He retracted the causal connection based on the records and JD1's failure to disclose that information to him. (Exb. D, D-1). Without an expert witness to make the causal connection between the claimed injury and the accident the case was likely worthless. Mr. Newport explained to JD1 she would lose at trial. JD1 was not happy.

JD1's civil personal injury case also failed due to her false sworn statements in the civil matter. When asked in an interrogatory, under oath on August 29, 2016 whether she had ever been in any other incident that resulted in any personal injury, she answered: none. (Tx. 114). CA. 86. When asked a second time the same question she again answered under oath on January 17, 2017: none. (Id). Her case failed on the eve of trial due to her dishonesty with her treating physician for more

than three years. Her case failed on the eve of trial due to her now being dishonest under oath on 8-29-16 and second time on 1-17-17. JD1 now desires to recover for herself or her mother the attorney fees owed to Mr. Newport in the personal injury case. (Tx. 141-45). CA. 99-103.

Mr. Newport began efforts to salvage the case by a settlement. There were thousands of dollars of Medicaid bills paid by the State of Iowa through Title 19 on behalf of JD1 that were claimed medical expenses because of her treatment. He requested JD1 identify a bottom dollar, net-in-her-pocket amount, to settle the case. She agreed to settle the case for \$7500. (Tx. 68). CA. 61. She was angry she was not receiving more money.

Detective Payton testified at Tx. 238 (CA. 163) as follows:

Q. You were aware that this settlement effort was not in line with her expectations as to how the case would be settled or what the financial value of her case was?

A. Correct.

Q. In fact, she probably complained more about fees and the amount of the settlement and not going to trial than she did about any of the sexual complaints that you were involved with; correct?

A. I would say she obviously wasn't happy about it.

Mr. Newport requested JD1 sign a release the following day so that he could contact Title 19 representatives to negotiate their lien claim. On January 19, 2018, JD1 came to the office and signed a Release in the presence of Rosalie Bergert. (Exb. Q). CA. 456. The phone records described in the phone and email section of

this brief suggest Mr. Newport did not have in person contact with JD1 on January 19, 2018. In the afternoon there were phone negotiations to accomplish a settlement with JD1, the defense attorney and Mr. Newport. The case was settled at approximately 3:00 p.m. The defense attorney then contacted Court Administration at 3:12 indicating the case was settled and there was no need for a trial. (Exb. E). CA. 412.

THE INITIATION OF ETHICS COMPLAINT AND CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION

On 1-24-2018, JD1 filed a complaint with the Bettendorf Police Department.

On 2-7-2018 JD1 called, at the request of officer Payton, and unknown to Mr. Newport, that call was recorded by the Bettendorf PD. She continued to lead Mr. Newport to believe that there was no objection to the settlement of her injury case, and that she would be in to sign the releases.

On 2-15-18 JD1 met with Mr. Newport in what was supposed to be the signing of the release and settlement check to conclude the settlement. Unknown to Mr. Newport, this in person meeting was audio and video recorded with the assistance of Bettendorf PD. This meeting lasted one hour and twelve minutes. During this meeting JD1 tells Mr. Newport she may have changed her mind on the settlement. In 72 minutes, not once did Mr. Newport act inappropriately or say

anything inappropriate, despite the efforts of JD1 and Detective Payton to accomplish that. She testified before the commission that as of 2-15-18 she refused to sign the release and settlement check. (Tx. 165-66). CA. 117-18.

On 2-23-18 JD1 filed in District Court a Motion to Continue her injury trial and “asking court to have my attorney withdraw”. (Exb. G). CA. 427. In the Motion to Continue she alleged the following:

I am requesting to have a Stephen Newport removed off my case due to misrepresentation and dishonesty. He has refused to give any of my files per request and with questions I have inquired with Mr. Newport he has been dishonest. I DON'T AGREE TO WHATEVER AGREEMENT HE CAME UP WITH THE ATTORNEY WHOM REPRESENTING PEOPLES MINI STORAGE. Mr. Newport's behavior has been unprofessional and inappropriate with me, I don't feel comfortable to complete anything further with him. (Emphasis added)

On 3-13-2018 Mr. Newport received the ethics complaint that is the basis of this action.

On 3-14-2018 Mr. Newport first learned of the criminal investigation when the Bettendorf Police executed a search warrant to search his office and strip search and photograph the private areas of his body. He voluntarily returned to the office so that he could be strip-searched and photographed. He then went to the police station by himself to give an interview to Detective Payton. (Exb. 6).

PHONE AND EMAIL TIMELINE JANUARY 18TH AND 19TH ANNOTATED

[See Exb. K (CA. 439) for JD1 phone records, Exb. M (CA. 455) for Mr. Newport phone records, and other exhibits as indicated in the timeline.]¹

JANUARY 18TH – P.M.

[Unless otherwise indicated, all JD1 calls on the 18th pinged off of cell tower 13445, her home area tower.]²

3:34	MR. NEWPORT CALLS JD1 (2 min 28 seconds)
3:54	MR. NEWPORT CALLS JD1 (2 min 20 seconds)

1 Guide to phone numbers found in Exb. K (CA. 439) and M (CA. 455)

(309) 207-9788	JD1 does not know who this number belongs to
(319) 366-7641	Attorney Chad VonKampen
(319) 432-3213	Attorney Chad VonKampen secondary line
(520) 403-0712	JD1's mother
(563) 249-3095	JD1 does not know who this number belongs to
(563) 349-3192	Mr. Newport's cell phone
(563) 386-9076	Mr. Newport's office secondary line
(563) 386-9500	Mr. Newport's office
(563) 421-7160	JD1 does not know who this number belongs to
(563) 505-9709	Kelsie Slay
(563) 676-9244	JD1

2 Guide to Cell/Ping Towers

13433	Moline (Detective Payton testified it is near 13453, 13455, and 13461)
13434	West Davenport, near Kelsie Slay's residence
13437	West Davenport, near Kelsie Slay's residence
13445	JD1 home area tower
13453	Moline (Detective Payton testified it is near 13433, 13455, and 13461)
13455	Moline (Detective Payton testified it is near 13433, 13453, and 13461)

4:08	JD1 OUTGOING CALL
4:24 to 6:01	MR. NEWPORT CALLS JD1 (96 min 41 seconds)
4:51	JD1 INCOMING CALL (while on the 4:24 call with Mr. Newport)
5:52	JD1 ROUTED AND UNDETERMINED CALL (while on the 4:24 call with Mr. Newport)
6:33	JD1 OUTGOING TEXT TO HER MOTHER
6:36	JD1 INCOMING CALL FROM HER MOTHER (40 min 52 seconds) [This call pinged off of tower 33451]
7:39	JD1 INCOMING TEXT
7:52 to 7:56	JD1 TWO INCOMING TEXTS AND TWO OUTGOING TEXTS
10:23 to 10:33	JD1 ONE OUTGOING TEXT TO AND ONE INCOMING TEXT FROM KELSIE SLAY

When Mr. Newport reviewed his calendar it shows an in-person meeting scheduled with JD1 that apparently changed times on January 18, 2018. (Exb. T-1 and T-2). CA. 457 and 458, respectively. Perhaps the “meeting” on the calendar was to be or became a phone call rather than in-person meeting. After receiving the

cell phone records it is clear there were many calls between Mr. Newport and JD1 on the 18th. This is when the need to settle and authority to discuss settlement with JD1 was obtained. The conversations with the defense counsel were on the 19th as evidenced by phone calls and the emails attached to court filing to enforce settlement. (Exb. E). CA. 412.

JANUARY 19TH – A.M.

6:25 to 6:26	JD1 ONE OUTGOING TEXT AND ONE INCOMING TEXT
7:21	JD1 THREE OUTGOING TEXTS
7:45 to 7:47	JD1 OUTGOING CALL (1 min 51 seconds)
7:49 to 7:51	JD1 OUTGOING CALL (2 min 26 seconds)
7:56	JD1 ONE INCOMING AND ONE UNDETERMINED CALL
7:58	JD1 ROUTED
8:04	JD1 INCOMING CALL FROM ILLINOIS
8:15 to 9:05	JD1 OUTGOING CALL TO SAME ILLINOIS NUMBER (JD1 claims to not know who she talked to for nearly 50 minutes) (Tx. 79)
9:06	JD1 OUTGOING TEXT
9:12	JD1 TWO OUTGOING AND ONE INCOMING TEXT WITH KELSIE

9:25 JD1 OUTGOING TEXT TO HER MOTHER

[All of the above communications were sent from JD1's home area, as shown by pinging off tower 13445. The below 9:25 call is the first time JD1's phone records indicate she left her home, as it pings off tower 13461 located in Moline, Illinois. This is consistent with a call from Mr. Newport's office. Then between 9:31 and 11:48 her calls ping off towers 13453 and 13455 in Moline, Illinois.]

9:25 to 9:28 JD1 FOUR OUTGOING CALLS TO HER MOTHER (All between 35 and 45 seconds)

9:29 to 9:30 JD1 TWO OUTGOING TEXTS

9:31 JD1 OUTGOING CALL TO HER MOTHER (34 seconds)

9:33 to 9:34 JD1 TWO INCOMING, ONE UNDETERMINED TEXTS

9:34 JD1 OUTGOING CALL TO HER MOTHER (40 seconds)

9:35 to 9:36 JD1 THREE OUTGOING AND TWO INCOMING TEXTS

9:38 JD1 INCOMING CALL FROM HER MOTHER (13 min 33 seconds)

9:58 to 10:00 JD1 THREE OUTGOING TEXTS TO HER MOTHER

10:01 to 10:08 JD1 INCOMING CALL FROM HER MOTHER

10:16 MR. NEWPORT IS AT THE FAX MACHINE IN THE KITCHEN AREA OF HIS OFFICE FAXING THE SIGNED

RELEASE TO THE STATE OF IOWA (Exb. Q)

10:34 to 10:45 JD1 THREE INCOMING AND FOUR OUTGOING TEXTS

(Three to her mother, others from Kelsie Slay)

[JD1's phone now begins to ping off the Moline tower 13461]

10:45 JD1 INCOMING CALL

10:46 to 10:49 JD1 TEN OUTGOING AND FOUR INCOMING TEXTS
FROM KELSIE SLAY

10:53 JD1 INCOMING TEXT FROM KELSIE SLAY

10:55 JD1 OUTGOING TEXT TO HER MOTHER

11:01 to 11:08 JD1 TEN OUTGOING AND FOUR INCOMING TEXTS
(First five texts are outgoing to her mother, the rest are an
exchange between JD1 and Kelsie Slay)

11:18 MR. NEWPORT INOMING CALL FROM HY-VEE
PHARMACY

11:20 MR. NEWPORT OUTGOING CALL TO HY-VEE
PHARMACY

11:22 to 11:25 JD1 TWO OUTGOING AND ONE INCOMING TEXTS
FROM KELSIE SLAY

11:23 MR. NEWPORT OUTGOING CALL TO HY-VEE

PHARMACY

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