**In the Supreme Court of Iowa**

---

**Supreme Court No. 20-1004  
Grievance Commission No. 899**

---

**Iowa Supreme Court  
Attorney Disciplinary Board,**

**Appellee,**

**vs.**

**Stephen Warren Newport,**

**Appellant**

---

**Appeal from the Report of the Iowa Supreme Court Grievance  
Commission**

---

**Appellee's Final Brief**

---

**Crystal W. Rink, AT0010107  
Iowa Judicial Branch Building  
1111 East Court Avenue  
Des Moines, IA 50319-5003  
Telephone: (515) 348-4680  
Fax: (515) 348-4699  
crystal.rink@iowacourts.gov**

**Attorney for Appellee**

##

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

Newport incorrectly states that Detective Payton did not do a background check on Jane Doe #1 and was not aware of her involvement

in making prior sexual allegations in the past. Br. 15 & 63. Detective Payton actually testified, “Obviously, I looked into her history that we had in our computer system at the time to see if there had been, you know, any past reports of such things, which I don’t recall seeing.” Con. App. p. 144 ll. 6-10. Further, the Board does not see the relevance of whether or not Jane Doe #1 or her family were victims of abuse or sexual assault in the past.

Newport attacks Detective Payton for not requesting from Newport his computer, telephone, or calendar, even though Newport could have provided Detective Payton with any information he wanted him to review.

#### **f. Miscellaneous Arguments**

Newport discusses that he was found not guilty in two criminal trials regarding the allegations involving Jane Doe #1. This is completely irrelevant to the proceedings in this matter. *See Stowers*, 823 N.W.2d at 13 (holding “even acquittal of criminal charges, is not a defense to [rule 32:8.4(b)]”).

Newport discusses that there is no physical, forensic, or eyewitness evidence to support Jane Doe #1’s allegations. However, Newport fails to state what sort of evidence would exist under these circumstances.

Newport exposed himself to Jane Doe #1. Jane Doe #1 does not allege that Newport grabbed her hand forcefully, Newport ejaculated during the encounter, or that any other witnesses were present during their closed door meeting. Many crimes occur without leaving behind physical, forensic, or corroborating eyewitness evidence. Newport brings up that there was “[n]o testimony from her mother who was in frequent phone communication with her on the day of the alleged assault.” Br. 8. However, Jane Doe #1’s mother was not present during the assault and her statements would constitute hearsay.

Newport claims he had no idea he was being recorded during their meeting on February 15, 2018, during which he did not act or say anything inappropriate. However, Jane Doe #1 believed Newport was suspicious about their meeting. Con. App. p. 67 ll. 15-23. Prior to their meeting, Jane Doe #1 did not promptly return Newport’s phone calls like she usually did. Con. App. p. 68 ll. 6-17 & p. 120 ll. 16-18. During their meeting, “[Newport] was more anxious and messing around with his phone a lot more, and he changed the meeting from his office to the conference room, which is not normal.” Con. App. p. 68 ll. 2-5 & p. 120 l. 11 – p. 121 l. 16. Additionally, Jane Doe #1 set a recording device, a camera, and her cell phone out on the desk and table during their

meeting, which could have caused Newport to suspect he was being recorded. Con. App. p. 68 l. 18 – p. 69 l. 4. Jane Doe #1 testified that she “would have no idea” if Newport knew or did not know he was being recorded at that meeting. Con. App. p. 116 l. 25 – p. 117 l. 9.

Newport states that his “physical and speech limitations could be observed at the hearing and on the video of the police questioning on 3-14-18.” Br. 9. The Board finds this to be completely irrelevant.<sup>10</sup> At the time of the incident, Newport’s physical and speech limitations were “not severe,” which is evidenced in his recorded interview with Detective Payton showing Newport walking into the interview just fine and speaking without any problems. Ex. 6; Con. App. p. 108 ll. 14-18. At the time of hearing, Newport was able to convey his answers to the questions asked. Newport also states, “Mrs. Newport testified Mr. Newport’s short term and long-term memory is impaired,” and that Newport would not be able to remember details of Jane Doe #1’s case. Br. 9-10. However, Newport testified that he remembered many details about his representation of Jane Doe #1 and the time around the incident. Further,

---

<sup>10</sup> Newport has not argued he is incompetent to face disciplinary proceedings.

if there was a detail Newport could not remember, Newport testified to that effect.

**II. The Board has proven by a convincing preponderance of the evidence that Stephen Warren Newport engaged in sexual harassment in violation of Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:8.4(g).**

**A. Rule 32:8.4(g)**

Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct Rule 32:8.4(g) states, “It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to engage in sexual harassment.” Sexual harassment is defined as “any physical or verbal act of a sexual nature that has no legitimate place in a legal setting.” *Moothart*, 860 N.W.2d at 604 (citation omitted). Sexual harassment includes “sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal [or] physical conduct of a sexual nature.” *Id.* (quoting *Iowa Supreme Ct. Bd. of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Steffes*, 588 N.W.2d 121, 124 (Iowa 1999) (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary 1375 (6th ed. 1990))).

“[S]exual harassment also encompasses what could be considered ‘put downs,’ in the form of gender harassment that is aimed at degrading or demeaning women, often to maintain gender hierarchy. *Watkins*, 944 N.W.2d at 887-88 (citations omitted). The Court does “not require the

sexually harassing conduct to be unwelcome or ‘more than an occasional stray comment.’” *Id.* quoting *Moothart*, 860 N.W.2d at 604.

### **B. Jane Doe #1**

Newport told Jane Doe #1 that he had a device implanted in his scrotum and had difficulties getting an erection. Con. App. p. 53 l. 12 – p. 55 l. 3. Newport next exposed his genitals and grabbed Jane Doe #1’s hand and placed it on his scrotum, so that she could feel the device and tubing. Con. App. p. 54 l. 11 – p. 55 l. 10. Newport then massaged his penis in front of Jane Doe #1. Con. App. p. 54 l. 17 – p. 55 l. 15. Newport commented that his pubic hair was red and that his granddaughter had inherited her red hair from him. Con. App. p. 56 ll. 14-17. Later that day, Newport told Jane Doe #1 that she could take off her clothes and give him a “blow job.” Con. App. p. 62 ll. 10-13 & p. 119 l. 17 – p. 120 l. 2.

### **C. Jane Doe #2**

On one occasion, Newport made a sexually inappropriate comment insinuating that Jane Doe #2 could pay for his legal fees in the form of a sexual favor. Con. App. p. 22 l. 13 – p. 23 l. 13. On another occasion, Newport told Jane Doe #2 that he had a hernia of the groin and asked her if she wanted to see it. Con. App. p. 24 ll. 10-19. On a third occasion, Newport asked Jane Doe #2 if she wanted him to ask her ex-husband if

she could pay her bill for his legal services with sex. Con. App. p. 26 l. 23 – p. 27 l. 20. On a fourth occasion, Newport invited Jane Doe #2 to come to his office on a Saturday to pick up her paperwork. Con. App. p. 29 l. 17 – p. 30 l. 11.

As stated previously, the Commission found Jane Doe #1 and Jane Doe #2 to be credible and found that Newport’s testimony was not credible. App. p. 19. The Board proved by a convincing preponderance of the evidence that Newport violated rule 32:8.4(g) when he made verbal comments of a sexual nature to both Jane Doe #1 and Jane Doe #2 and when he assaulted and exposed himself to Jane Doe #1.

#### **D. Response to Newport’s Brief**

Newport attempts to explain his comment about asking Jane Doe #2 if she wanted him to close the door as “an innocent question to a client to determine if that client wanted privacy at an otherwise crowded busy and public place.” Br. 62. Newport’s explanation does not address why Jane Doe #2 would have needed privacy to write a check and why Newport laughed when he asked her the question. Con. App. p. 22 ll. 13-23. Additionally, there is nothing in the record to suggest that their meeting location was crowded or busy.

Newport next claims the third incident occurred “presumably during regular business hours when staff and clients and (sic) likely present, (with no claim that the door is shut).” Br. 63. Again, nowhere in the record does it suggest that anyone else was present in the office or that the door was open.

Newport argues Jane Doe #2 is not credible because she did not fire Newport after he made the inappropriate comments. Jane Doe #2 testified, “I had no money. It was really important to finish up my child custody case. You know, I could hardly afford rent, let alone hire another attorney with a huge deposit. The idea of that was just impossible.” Con. App. p. 30 l. 25 – p. 31 l. 4. Newport’s attempt to attack Jane Doe #2 fails and instead highlights her vulnerability as a client having to endure the sexual harassment because she had no other options.

Newport states, “the complaints by JD2 should not be considered because she did not waive attorney.” Br. 61. Based upon arguments in his trial brief, the Board assumes that Newport is arguing that the misconduct committed against Jane Doe #2 should not be considered because she did not waive attorney-client privilege. Newport’s attempt to hide behind privilege is a ploy. Clearly rules 32:1.6 and 32:1.9 allow an attorney to reveal information in order to put up a defense. “Where a legal

claim or disciplinary charge alleges complicity of the lawyer in a client's conduct or other misconduct of the lawyer involving representation of the client, the lawyer may respond to the extent the lawyer reasonably believes necessary to establish a defense." Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:1.6 cmt. 10.

### **III. The sanction proposed by the Grievance Commission is appropriate.**

There is no standard sanction with respect to misconduct in attorney disciplinary cases. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Blessum*, 861 N.W.2d 575, 591 (Iowa 2015). The Court takes into account the "totality of facts and circumstances" of each case. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Deremiah*, 875 N.W.2d 728, 737 (Iowa 2016). The Court's considerations include "the nature of the violations, the need for deterrence, protection of the public, maintenance of the reputation of the bar as a whole, and the attorney's fitness to continue practicing law, as well as any aggravating or mitigating circumstances." *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Bartley*, 860 N.W.2d 331, 337 (Iowa 2015) (citation omitted).

## A. Aggravating Factors

The Commission found Newport's pattern of misconduct to be an aggravating factor. App. p. 15. Newport sexually harassed not one but two of his female clients. *See Moothart*, 860 N.W.2d at 617. The Commission also found Newport's inconsistent testimony to be an aggravating factor. App. p. 16; *see Iowa Supreme Ct. Bd. of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Tofflemire*, 689 N.W.2d 83, 92 (Iowa 2004) (holding untruthful testimony is an aggravating factor).

There are additional aggravating factors present in this case which support the Commission's recommended sanction. The crimes themselves in this matter are aggravating factors. Newport committed the crimes of sexual abuse, prostitution, and indecent exposure. Newport also sexually harassed two of his clients which is "reprehensible conduct." *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Stansberry*, 922 N.W.2d 591, 600 (Iowa 2019). Newport "committed multiple crimes [and instances of sexual harassment] that victimized women for his own sexual gratification." *Id.* at 599.

The vulnerability of Newport's clients is an aggravating factor. *Moothart*, 860 N.W.2d at 617. In Jane Doe #2's case, she sought legal assistance in her child custody case, "a matter[] of paramount personal

importance,” and she had limited financial means. *McGrath*, 713 N.W.2d at 703.

Client harm is another aggravating factor. *Id.* “Sexual harassment in any form can have devastating effects for the women who experience it. *Watkins*, 944 N.W.2d at 889. Newport’s conduct harmed both Jane Doe #1 and Jane Doe #2.

### **B. Mitigating Factors**

The Commission found Newport’s cooperation, health issues, and his desire to retire to be mitigating factors. App. pp. 16-17. Cooperation is a mitigating factor. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. Jacobsma*, 920 N.W.2d 813, 821 (Iowa 2018). The Court also “consider[s] health issues to be a mitigating factor in determining the appropriate sanction.” *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. Goedken*, 939 N.W.2d 97, 109 (Iowa 2020) (citation omitted).

While “[v]oluntary cessation of practice or a self-imposed practice limitation . . . can be a mitigating factor,” *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. Barnhill*, 885 N.W.2d 408, 425 (Iowa 2016), “a lawyer may not avoid the disciplinary process involving a potential revocation of the lawyer’s license through a strategy of voluntary retirement.” *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Bd. v. Parrish*, 925 N.W.2d 163, 170 (Iowa

2019) (citations omitted). Newport submitted his application for retirement just two days before the Grievance hearing. Con. App. p. 250 ll. 8-16. The close proximity in time to the hearing certainly suggests an attempt to evade disciplinary action.

### **C. Relevant Case Law**

Sanctions for attorneys who commit sexual misconduct have ranged from a public reprimand to a three-year suspension. *Moothart*, 860 N.W.2d at 615. In *Watkins*, the Court found Watkins to have violated rule 32:8.4(g) when he made sexually inappropriate comments to his legal assistant, showed his legal assistant and an assistant county attorney nude photographs of his wife, and appeared in front of his legal assistant in only his boxer briefs on at least two occasions. 944 N.W.2d at 888. The Court suspended Watkins for six months. *Id.* at 894. The Court held that “sexual harassment is ‘an issue of power,’ in which those in power use their status in the powerful group at the expense of those outside of that group.” *Id.* Like in *Watkins*, there was a power imbalance between Newport and his victims. *Id.* at 892. However, *Watkins* is distinguishable in one significant aspect—Watkins’s conduct did “*not* involve an attorney propositioning a client, touching a client, or taking

some other inappropriate action for the attorney's own sexual gratification." *Id.* at 889.

In *Stansberry*, the Court found Stansberry to have violated rule 32:8.4(g) when he snuck into his coworkers' offices and photographed their undergarments and when he entered a coworker's home under false pretenses, so he could steal her undergarments. 922 N.W.2d at 597. The Court suspended Stansberry's license for one year. *Id.* at 601. Similarly to this case, Stansberry "targeted women . . . for his own sexual gratification" at his place of work. *Id.* at 597. The Court determined that Stansberry "used his position and his job to find his victims" and "the victims here trusted Stansberry because of their relationship with him . . . [and] Stansberry took advantage of their trust." *Id.* While "Stansberry committed multiple crimes that victimized women," Stansberry did not assault, expose himself to, or proposition his victims. *Id.* at 599.

In *Moothart*, the Court found Moothart violated rule 32:8.4(g) for sexually harassing five clients, as well as, rules 32:1.8(j) and 32:1.7(a)(2). 860 N.W.2d at 608-614. Moothart engaged in sexual relations with two clients, grabbed one client's breasts, and requested that the other two clients expose their breasts to him. *Id.* The Court suspended Moothart's license for thirty months. *Id.* at 618. Like Moothart, Newport engaged in

“a pattern of inappropriate behavior over many years that clearly harmed the women with whom he interacted as well as the profession he represented.” *Id.* at 615. Newport also preyed upon his clients’ vulnerability as Moothart did. *Id.* at 617.

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